S277510

Е

C092450

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

CALIFORNIA CAPITAL INSURANCE COMPANY, et al.,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

VS.

CORY MICHAEL HOEHN

Defendant and Appellant.

ON REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOLLOWING APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF
THE PLACER COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT
HON. MICHAEL JONES • CASE NO. SCV0026851

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Denyse F. Clancy, Esq. (C.S.B. #255276) dclancy@kazanlaw.com KAZAN, McCLAIN, SATTERLEY & GREENWOOD A Professional Law Corporation Jack London Market 55 Harrison Street, Suite 400 Oakland, California 94607 Telephone: (510) 302-1000

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT AND APPELLANT CORY MICHAEL HOEHN

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Section 473(d) of the California Code of Civil Procedure states that a court "may, on motion of either party after notice to the other party, set aside any void judgment or order." Section 473(d) does not include a time limitation on a court's power to vacate a void judgment.

The question presented is: Is there a two-year time limitation for a defendant to move to vacate a judgment void for lack of proper service under section 473(d), depending on whether the judgment is shown to be void by extrinsic evidence or is void on its face?

2. Alternatively, it is undisputed that there is no time limit to move to vacate a void judgment in equity based on extrinsic fraud. This Court defines "extrinsic fraud" as depriving "the unsuccessful party of an opportunity to present his case to the court. If an unsuccessful party to an action has been kept in ignorance thereof or has been prevented from fully participating therein, there has been no true adversary proceeding, and the judgment is open to attack at any time." [Westphal v. Westphal (1942) 20 Cal.2d 392, 397].

The question presented is: Does proving "extrinsic fraud" when moving to vacate a judgment void for lack of proper service require proof not only of improper service, but also an additional showing of scienter involving "inequitable conduct" that "lulled [the defendant] into a state of false security?" [Slip. Op. Exh. A, at 8, n. 7].

INTRODUCTION

This case presents the opportunity for this Court to correct a widespread problem emanating from an epidemic of "sewer service," whereby claims for debt collection result in default judgments that remain final, despite lack of notice to the defendant. Specifically, a conflict in the Courts of Appeal as to whether there is a time limitation on moving to vacate judgments void for lack of proper service has exacerbated unscrupulous practices involving the service of complaints and summons, and enabled default judgments to be enforced even absent proper service, as long as the process server attests (truthfully or not), that the service was proper.

The plain language of section 473 of the Code of Civil Procedure² has no time limitation for a defendant to move to vacate a judgment void for lack of service of process. Thus, section 473(d) states that a court "may, on motion of either party, after notice to the other party, set aside any void judgment or order." [Code. Civ. Proc. § 473(d)]. The Legislature's omission of any time limitation to move to vacate a judgment void for lack of proper service under section 473(d) protects a fundamental principle of our jurisprudence: jurisdiction over the person by means of proper service must be obtained,

¹ [See Letter in Support of Review from Professors Aceves, Chemerinsky, Hoffman, Klein, Rosenbaum and Williams to the Honorable Chief Justice Cantil-Sakauye and Associate Justices (Dec. 28, 2022) (detailing the epidemic of sewer service, the rise in default judgments arising from debt collection, and the disparate impact that grafting a time restriction on section 473(d) of the Code of Civil Procedure has on low income litigants and communities of color.)].

² Unless otherwise noted, all section references are to the California Code of Civil Procedure.

otherwise, the court has no authority to act and any judgment is void. [*Peralta v. Heights Medical Center, Inc.* (1988) 485 U.S. 80, 84 ("[A] judgment entered without notice or service is constitutionally infirm.")].

In the decision below, the Court of Appeal *agreed* that section 473(d) does not have a time limit to set aside a void judgment: "True, the text of the statute does not state a time limit." [Slip. Op., Exh. "A" at 6]. Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal held that where a judgment is shown to be void by "extrinsic evidence" rather than on its face, the two-year time limit from section 473.5 applies "by analogy" to section 473(d), and Petitioner Mr. Hoehn was time-barred from moving to vacate the judgment for lack of service of process. [Id. at 6-7, citing *Trackman v. Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 175, 180; *Rogers v. Silverman* (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1114, 1124]. (Notably, section 473.5 deals with an entirely different situation, where service was proper but the defendant did not receive actual notice). [Code Civ. Proc. § 475(a)].

The undisputed facts of this case exemplify the stark outcomes to California citizens that arise when a time limitation is added to section 473(d), as the Court of Appeal did below:

In 2008, Defendant Mr. Hoehn graduated from high school and moved to Roseville, California. His roommate was a fellow high school graduate named Forrest Kroll. They qualified for low-income housing, and found an apartment for \$798 per month. Still a teenager himself, Mr. Hoehn took classes at Sierra College, and worked at City of Roseville's children's after school program. But less than a year had passed when

Mr. Hoehn received a call from his roommate Forrest with the news that their apartment and all of Mr. Hoehn's possessions had burned down.

Mr. Hoehn was not at the apartment before or during the fire, and as such did not know how it started. The insurance company sent an investigator, who could only surmise that the culprit was lit cigarette butts left by an unknown person on the apartment's outside porch. Despite having really no idea what caused the fire, a year later the insurance company sued Mr. Hoehn and his roommate Forrest for close to one half million dollars. The process server could not locate Forrest. For unknown reasons, the insurance company elected to dismiss Forrest from the case rather than serve him by publication. The process server was also unable to personally serve Mr. Hoehn, so instead attested that she left the complaint and summons with Mr. Hoehn's teenage girlfriend, falsely claiming the teenage girlfriend was a "competent member of the household." [Code Civ. Proc. § 415.20(b)]. The insurance company never took any action to collect the judgment, and after seven years to assign the judgment to debt collector Sequoia. Mr. Hoehn was unaware that he had been sued until *nine years* after entry of judgment, when debt collector Sequoia attempted to garnish his wages earned as a restaurant worker. The debt collector was presumably prompted to enforce the judgment at this late date because of the ten-year deadline within which a judgment must be enforced. [Code Civ. Proc. § 683.020]. By the time that debt collector moved to collect on the judgment, it had grown close to \$1,000,000.00 with interest.

Mr. Hoehn promptly filed a motion to vacate the judgment as void for lack of proper service under section 473(d). But the trial court and the Court of Appeal below held that

Mr. Hoehn's Motion to Vacate was untimely, because the service was not void on its face, but instead shown to be void by Mr. Hoehn's unrebutted extrinsic evidence that his teenage girlfriend was never a "member of the household." The Court of Appeal also foreclosed Mr. Hoehn's alternative motion attacking the judgment on an equitable basis, erroneously holding that concededly improper service did not constitute extrinsic fraud.

The Court of Appeal's holding is egregiously wrong.

First, there is no time limitation on moving to vacate a judgment under section 473(d), regardless of whether the judgment is shown to be void "on its face" or by "extrinsic evidence," and the *Trackman/Rogers* line of case law holding that section 473.5's two-year time limitation applies by "analogy" to section 473(d) cannot be reconciled with Constitutional requirements of due process and basic principles of statutory interpretation. Indeed, numerous appellate courts reject adding a two-year time limitation to section 473(d) "by analogy," and hold—in line with the United States Supreme Court opinion in *Peralta*—that a judgment void for lack of proper service is void for all time. [*Martinez v. Encore Senior Living*, No. E070465, 2020 WL 773453 (Cal. App. Feb. 18, 2020) ("[N]umerous other courts have rejected the proposition" that a motion to vacate a void judgment under section 473(d) is subject to section 473.5(a)'s two year limit) (Attached hereto as Exhibit "B")].³

Second, the Court of Appeal erred in holding that improper service does not constitute extrinsic fraud. This Court has adopted a three-part test to determine if relief

³ Unpublished cases may be cited to this Court to show the existence of a conflict and the need to secure uniformity. [Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b)(1)].

from a default judgment is warranted due to extrinsic fraud, and it was undisputed before the trial court and the Court of Appeal that Mr. Hoehn met all three parts of this test: (i) he demonstrated he has a meritorious case; (ii) he had a satisfactory excuse for not presenting a defense to the original action because he had not been served; and (iii) he moved to vacate the judgment almost immediately after it was discovered. [Rappleyea v. Campbell (1994) 8 Cal.4th 975, 982 (setting forth the test)]. But in holding that Mr. Hoehn had not proven "extrinsic fraud," the Court of Appeal devised a fourth criteria, concluding that Mr. Hoehn must also show undefined "inequitable conduct" in addition to the established three-part test. [Slip. Op, Exh. A, at 8, n. 7]. This was error, and in direct contradiction to well-settled precedent, which holds that lack of proper service depriving the defendant of an opportunity to appear in court is itself extrinsic fraud.

As a policy matter, the consequences of imposing a time limit on section 473(d) are staggering: if you have not been properly served and do not know about service, you are subject to judgment if you do not somehow find out and object to the judgment as void within a two-year period after entry of judgment. And the Court of Appeal's suggestion that this problem can be solved through a separate action in equity [Slip. Op., Exh. A at 8] is belied by (i) the Court of Appeal's own high burden required to prove "extrinsic fraud;" and (ii) the well-settled law that a "party who seeks to have his default vacated under the court's equity power must make a stronger showing than is necessary to obtain relief under section 473." [Aheroni v. Maxwell (1988) 205 Cal.App.3d 284, 291-292].

The incentives created by imposing a time limitation on section 473(d) are equally perverse: a clever process server is highly motivated to craft a service of process valid "on

its face," because time will run out for a defendant to object to lack of service by showing through extrinsic evidence that the service of process was invalid, and a fortunate debt collector may collect on a judgment without ever having to prove liability through a trial on the merits. The Court of Appeal's holding fosters the rampant problem of "sewer service," where debt collection actions result in default judgments because of lack of notice to defendants. [See Norman W. Spaulding, The Ideal and the Actual in Procedural Due Process, 48 Hastings Const. L.Q. 261, 274 (2021) ("[T]here are strong incentives for plaintiff creditors, employers, and landlords to cut corners in giving notice because, in the absence of defense counsel, the likelihood that 'gutter service' will be challenged is low.")].

The California residents who will pay most dearly for this denial of due process are those with the least resources, who do not have registered agents for service, who are therefore more likely subject to the whims of an ambitious process server, and who certainly cannot afford to pay for the legal counsel necessary to untangle a judgment obtained without proper service after the expiration of the two-year ticking clock.

This Court should reverse and hold that section 473(d) does not impose a time limit on moving to vacate judgments void for lack of proper service, or in the alternative grant Mr. Hoehn equitable relief based on extrinsic fraud.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. The events giving rise to the judgment.

On August 22, 2008, the year after he graduated from high school, Mr. Hoehn and his roommate Forrest Kroll entered into a lease for Unit 3605 at 1098 Woodcreek Oaks

Boulevard in Roseville, CA. [AA23]. The rent was \$798 per month for both of them. [AA23 at ¶ 2]. Mr. Hoehn took classes at Sierra College, and he worked for the City of Roseville at a children's after school program. [AA24 ¶ 3].

On June 16, 2009, Mr. Hoehn received a phone call from his roommate Forrest Kroll that there had been a fire at the apartment. [AA24 at ¶ 4]. With the exception of a red dresser that the fire department was able to save, Mr. Hoehn lost all of his possessions in the fire. [AA24 at ¶ 4].

Mr. Hoehn was not present at the time of the fire. [AA24 at ¶ 5]. When Mr. Hoehn left the apartment on June 16, 2009, there was no fire, no smoke, nothing in the oven, and nothing in the stove, and no one was smoking cigarettes or cigars in or near the apartment. [AA24 at ¶ 5]. No one ever questioned Mr. Hoehn or suggested that he was in any way responsible for starting the fire. [AA24 at ¶ 5]. No one ever informed him that they would be suing him alleging that he had any responsibility for starting the fire. [AA24 at ¶ 5].

The investigator for California Capital Insurance, which insured the apartment building, determined that the cause of the fire was "careless smoking habits" by an unknown person on the outdoor patio. [AA128].

On March 18, 2010, the insurance company sued Mr. Hoehn and his roommate Forrest Kroll and twenty Doe defendants for "general negligence," alleging that they caused the fire due to "improperly discarded smoking materials." [AA41-48]. The insurance company sought \$472,326 in damages. [Id.].

California Capital Insurance was not able to locate co-defendant Forrest Kroll, the only person sued who was actually at the apartment at the time the fire started. [AA35-36].

For unknown reasons, California Capital Insurance elected to dismiss Forrest Kroll from the lawsuit, with no attempt to serve him by publication. [AA39-40].

California Capital Insurance did not serve Mr. Hoehn directly with the Complaint and Summons. Instead, after failing to serve Mr. Hoehn personally, its process server falsely claimed that Mr. Hoehn's teenage girlfriend Shannon Smith was a "Co-Occupant" and "a competent member of the household" of Mr. Hoehn's residence at 2727 Edison Street #124, San Mateo, CA, and attested that she gave the Complaint and Summons to her. [AA50]. In fact, Shannon Smith did not live with Mr. Hoehn at the 2727 Edison residence; Mr. Hoehn lived with his roommate Kirk Haynes. [AA24 at ¶ 7].

Mr. Hoehn never received the Complaint or Summons or any legal paperwork from Shannon Smith. [AA24 at ¶ 8]. Although the process server stated that she mailed the complaint to Mr. Hoehn [AA52], Mr. Hoehn does not recall seeing the Complaint or Summons at any time. [AA24 at ¶ 8].

On May 18, 2010, California Capital Insurance requested entry of default against Mr. Hoehn for \$486,529.00. [AA54-55]. The Court entered default the same day. [*Id.*].

On August 13, 2010, California Capital Insurance requested entry of judgment for \$486,528.00 against Mr. Hoehn. [AA59-85]. The Request for Entry of Default was mailed to Mr. Hoehn at 2727 Edison Street, San Mateo, CA on August 6, 2010. [AA60]. But Mr. Hoehn no longer lived at the 2727 Edison address. [AA24 at ¶ 9]. He and his roommate Kirk Haynes had moved to 52 East 41st Street, San Mateo, CA. [*Id.*]. Mr. Hoehn did not receive the request for entry of judgment or notice of default. [AA24 at ¶ 10].

On February 16, 2011, the Court initially denied the request for default judgment: "Insufficient evidence submitted to support default judgment. Attorney declaration is insufficient to establish the insured's loss, cause of the same, etc. Further, no foundation is laid for Exhibit A to Schroeder, and it cannot be considered." [AA85].

On April 1, 2011, California Capital Insurance again requested entry of default judgment. [AA90-146]. California Capital Insurance did not attest that it had mailed the request for entry of default judgment to Mr. Hoehn. [AA91]. Mr. Hoehn did not receive the request for entry of judgment or notice of default. [AA24 at ¶ 10].

As part of its evidence, California Capital Insurance submitted a Declaration from its investigator, who concluded that because he found "cigarette butts" on the patio, the "cause of the fire was the result of careless smoking habits." [AA77]. The investigator did not conclude who may have started the fire, or who was present at the time the fire began. [Id].

The Court entered default judgment against Mr. Hoehn for \$486,528.00 on April 8, 2011. [AA148]. The insurance company never moved to collect on the judgment. Instead, seven years after entry of judgment, the insurance company assigned its rights to collect upon the judgment to debt collector Sequoia. [AA152]. Nine years later, in January 2020, the debt collector had an earnings withholding order served on Mr. Hoehn's employer. [AA161]. That is when Mr. Hoehn learned that there was judgment against him as a result of the fire at Woodcreek Oaks. [AA24 at ¶ 10].

II. The trial court denies Mr. Hoehn's motion to set aside the default and vacate the judgment.

When he became aware of the judgment, Mr. Hoehn had counsel obtain the court files and immediately filed a motion to set aside the default and vacate the judgment on March 18, 2020. [AA10-199]. Mr. Hoehn established that girlfriend Shannon Smith was not a "competent member of the household" [Code Civ. Proc. § 415.20(b)]; that he had not been properly served; and that he had no notice of the judgment until debt collector Sequoia garnished his wages nine years later. [AA10-199].

Mr. Hoehn moved to vacate the default and set aside the judgment, demonstrating that: (i) the judgment was void due to lack of service, the trial court was without jurisdiction to enter the judgment, and therefore the judgment must be set aside under section 473(d); or, alternatively, (ii) the judgment should be set aside based on extrinsic fraud or mistake. [AA10-22]. A judgment may be set aside at any time based on either of these grounds.

Debt collector Sequoia did not dispute Mr. Hoehn's declaration that his teenage girlfriend was not a "competent member of the household," nor did it argue that she had actual or ostensible control of his premises. [AA201-215]. Instead, Sequoia argued that there is a rebuttable presumption of the facts stated in the return. [AA202; Evid. Code § 647]. But this is merely a "presumption affecting the burden of producing evidence," and is not a conclusive presumption. [Evid. Code § 630]. Defendant Hoehn rebutted the process server's statement that she served "Shannon Smith, Girlfriend," "a competent member of the household..." [AA50]. Mr. Hoehn attested that "Shannon Smith did not live with me at the 2727 Edison residence; my roommate was Kirk Haynes." [AA24 at ¶ 7]. Mr. Hoehn

further attested: "I never received a Summons or Complaint or any legal paperwork from Shannon Smith at any time. I do not recall receiving or seeing the Summons or Complaint at any time." [AA24 at ¶ 8].

Additionally, debt collector Sequoia argued that despite the lack of proper service, Mr. Hoehn's motion to set aside the default judgment was time-barred because the two-year time limitation of section 473.5 applied "by analogy" to section 473(d) under *Rogers v. Silverman* (1989) 216 Cal.App.3d 1114. [AA204]. (Section 473.5 does not apply to situations like here where service was not affected; it applies when *proper* service of a summons "has not resulted in actual notice to a party in time to defend the action and a default or default judgment has been entered . . ." [Code Civ. Proc. § 473.5(a)]). Additionally, debt collector Sequoia contended that service should be inferred based on inadmissible hearsay evidence as to alleged phone calls between Mr. Hoehn and a law firm secretary [AA207-215], to which Mr. Hoehn objected based on hearsay and relevance. [AA227-231].

The trial court denied the motion to vacate the default judgment. It agreed that a "default judgment entered against a defendant who was not served with summons as required by the statutory procedures of service of process is void" [AA241], but nonetheless held that as a matter of law Mr. Hoehn was time-barred from obtaining relief, because extrinsic evidence was required to show that service was improper, and "by analogy" under section 473.5, Mr. Hoehn was required to bring his motion to vacate within two years of entry of default judgment. [AA241, *citing Trackman v. Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 175, 181]. Additionally, the trial court held that "the fact that the proof of

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