IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

California Capital Insurance Company)	Supreme Court
)	no. S277510
)	
Plaintiff & Respondent.)	Court of Appeal case
)	no. C092450
)	
v.)	Superior Court case
)	no. SCV0026851
Cory Michael Hoehn,)	
)	
Defendant & Appellant.)	
_____)	

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF PLACER COUNTY

Hon Michael Jones, Judge

After the unpublished Decision of the Court of Appeal
Third Appellate District, Div SF - Affirmed in full

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

Edmond B Siegel SBN 29350
Edmond B. Siegel & Associates
5737 Kanan Road, Suite 722 Agoura Hills, CA 91301-1601
818 409-6055 Phone 818 707-7088 Fax
edmond.siegel@ebsandassoc.com Email

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

ARGUMENT

FACTUAL STATEMENT AS TO THE UNDERLYING MOTION TO VACATE

Appellant filed the underlying Motion to vacate the default Judgment on March 18, 2020, 11 years, 8 months, and 11 days, after entry of the April 11, 2011 default Judgment. Appellant's Appendix ("APX") pages 147-149 (the "default Judgment"), APX pages 10-22 (the "Motion to Vacate"), APX pages 23-25 ("Mr Hoehn's Declaration"), APX pages 26-198 ("Ms Clancy's Declaration with documentary evidence - exhibits A to Q").

The motion requested relief to vacate the default Judgment as void, using extrinsic evidence to try to vacate the default Judgment as void for lack of personal service regarding whether Ms Smith could properly be substitute served [which is contrary to the face of the Proof of Service documents and as to the face of the default Judgment.

Appellant alleged factual matters outside the Court record as to the service, which did not appear on the face of the Court's record]: (1) Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) for lack of actual personal service on Appellant, (2) Code of Civil Procedure § 587 for not serving a copy of the application for a default judgment [after a default had already been entered],(3) that the damages awarded exceed the damages pled in the complaint or set forth in a statement of damages served citing *Heidary v. Yadollahi* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 857, 864, and (4) Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) for extrinsic fraud or mistake based on lack of personal service on Appellant. APX pages 10-22.

Respondent filed Opposition to the Motion. A copy is found at APX pages 201 -215 ("Opposition"), which included a declaration of attorney Mr Michael Schroeder at APX pages 207 - 215 [offering evidence that Hoehn had actual notice of the lawsuit just after service occurred, when he telephoned Mr Schroeder, Plaintiff's Counsel's office].

Appellant filed a reply brief. APX pages 216 to 226 ("Reply"), which along with the motion did argue that the statutory language did not contain a time limit, but did not fully brief or argue the existing applicable case law or argue that these cases were not controlling and

should be overturned.

Appellant ignored the controlling authority's precedential effect on the trial Court, and instead offered an incomplete case law and statutory analysis, without arguing that the controlling authority was not binding on the trial Court or that the trial Court should act contrary to it.

Hoehn also offered self-serving extrinsic testimony as to the service of the summons and complaint to allege defects in service and extrinsic fraud or mistake, ignoring the undisputed fact that Ms Smith was served by the process server at his residence. Ms Smith was inside his residence with apparent and ostensible control of it as a co-occupant.

Also, the arguments that the amount of damages awarded were improper, and that after his default was properly entered, he was entitled to service of a request for default judgment, are simply incorrect.

Appellant filed Evidentiary Objections to the declaration of attorney Mr Michael Schroeder submitted in opposition to the motion. APX pages 227-231.

The trial Court issued the instant Order adopting its tentative ruling denying the Motion to vacate the default Judgment on July 10, 2020, only after Appellant withdrew his request for oral argument and both parties submitted on the trial Court's tentative ruling. APX pages

240-243.

Appellant filed a Notice of appeal on August 7, 2020. APX pages 244-245.

The underlying complaint APX 42 to 45, at pp 14a (2) provided notice to Appellant that damages of \$472,326.00 were being sought (APX 44).

The Request to enter Appellant's default was served on the address where service was effected. APX 54 and 55 (the entered Request for entry of default) p 6 (b) on 55.

The default Judgment entered APX 48 to 49 at pp 6a, awarded \$472,326.00 in damages which is the same amount as pled in the Complaint.

THERE ARE TWO APPLICABLE STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) provides a trial court “may, on motion of either party after notice to the other party, set aside any void judgment or order.” “[I]nclusion of the word ‘may’ in the language of section 473, subdivision (d) makes it clear that a trial court retains discretion to grant or deny a motion to set aside a void judgment [or order].” *Cruz v. Fagor America, Inc.* (2007) 146 Cal.App.4th 488, 495. However, the trial court “has no statutory power to set aside a judgment [or order] that is not void.” *Id.* at pp. 495-496.

There are time limits on the Court's jurisdiction under well settled law, to vacate an alleged void judgment or order, when the judgment or order appears to be valid and cannot be determined to be void, on the face of the Judgment or Court's record, and instead a Court must consider extrinsic evidence, to determine if the judgment or order is void. See further discussion below, *Pittman v. Beck Park Apartments Ltd.* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 1009, 1021, *Trackman vs Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App4th 175, 181 cited by the trial Court, and *OC Interior Services LLC vs Nationstar Mortgage LLC* (2017) 7 Cal.App5th 1318 [Review Denied].

On appeal, there are two separate standards of review. "generally [a reviewing Court] faces two separate determinations when considering an appeal based of a motion to vacate under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d): (1) whether the order or judgment is void; and, (2) if so, whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion in setting it aside."

Nixon Peabody LLP v. Superior Court (2014) 230 Cal.App.4th 818, 822.

The trial Court's determination whether an order is void is reviewed de novo. The trial Court's decision whether to set aside a void order is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *Ibid*, see also *Airs Aromatics, LLC v. CBL Data Recovery Technologies, Inc.* (2018) 23 Cal.App.5th 1013, 1018, and *Cruz v. Fagor America, Inc., (2007)*, 146 Cal.App.4th 488, at p. 496. Under both standards of review, the trial Court exercised its discretion properly and subject to applicable controlling authorities.

Here, four grounds were set forth in the notice and motion to vacate the default Judgment at APX pages 11 and 12: (1) Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) for lack of actual personal service on Appellant, (2) Code of Civil Procedure § 587 for not serving a copy of the application for a default judgment after a default had already been entered [even though the request to enter default was served], (3) where the damages awarded exceed the damages pled in the complaint or set forth in a statement of damages served citing *Heidary v. Yadollahi* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 857, 864, and (4) Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) for extrinsic fraud or mistake based on lack of personal service on Appellant.

As determined by the trial Court, the motion to vacate was time barred and otherwise incorrect as to its grounds and the evidentiary objections asserted. APX pages 240-243.

**TIME LIMITS OF EITHER 6 MONTHS OR UP TO 2 YEARS
EXIST TO LIMIT A COURT'S JURISDICTION TO VACATE A
DEFAULT JUDGMENT, WHEN THE JUDGMENT OR ORDER
APPEAR VALID ON ITS FACE; AND EXTRINSIC EVIDENCE IS
PRESENTED TO ALLEGE IT IS VOID**

“In determining whether an order is void for purposes of considering relief under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d), courts distinguish between orders and judgments that are void on the face of the record and orders that appear valid on the face of the record but are shown to be invalid through consideration of extrinsic evidence.” *Pittman v. Beck Park Apartments Ltd.* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th 1009, 1021.

“This distinction is essential to the Court’s determination as to the timing and procedural mechanism available, to attack a judgment or order. *OC Interior Services, LLC v. Nationstar Mortgage, LLC* (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th 1318, 1326 [Review denied].

There is no time limit to challenge a judgment which is void on its face or void on the face of the court’s record. *Pittman* (2018) 20 Cal.App.5th at p. 1021, *OC Interior Services* (2017) 7 Cal.App.5th at p. 1326, and *Ramos v. Homeward Residential, Inc.* (2014) 223 Cal.App.4th 1434, 1440. Here the default Judgment appears valid on its face as does the proof of service and Appellant challenged them by using extrinsic evidence. See APX pages 147-149.

However, ‘[w]here a party moves for [relief] under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) to set aside ‘a judgment that is valid on its face, claiming the Judgment is void for lack of proper service, the courts have adopted by analogy the six month period of Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (b), and for other challenges the maximum statutory period for relief from a default judgment by analogy is the two year time period of section 473.5.’ *Trackman v. Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 175, 180; accord, *Bae v. T.D. Service Co. of Arizona* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 89, 97 [relief is subject to the time period specified in section 473.5 when the party seeking relief maintains the judgment, although facially valid, is void due to lack of proper service of process. See *Pittman* at p. 1021 “If the invalidity can be shown only through consideration of extrinsic evidence, such as declarations or testimony, the order is not void on its face. Such an order must be challenged within the six-month time limit

prescribed by Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (b). *Trackman v. Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 175, 180; accord, *Bae v. T.D. Service Co. of Arizona* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 89, 97, *OC Interior Services*, at p. 1328; *Ramos*, at p. 1440; *Plaza Hollister Ltd. Partnership v. County of San Benito* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1, 19 and two years by analogy to 473.5 for all other challenges.

APPELLANT’S ARGUMENT SEEKING TO ALTER WELL SETTLED PRECEDENT AS TO THE TRIAL COURT’S DECISION THAT HIS MOTION WAS TIME BARRED IS MISPLACED & OVERTURNING CASE LAW WAS NOT ARGUED

Appellant’s arguments to this Court are misplaced, seeking to overturn well settled precedent is improper, using arguments already rejected contained in many opinions, especially when review was recently denied by the Supreme Court. Hoehn should have first presented his arguments to overturn these controlling authorities to the trial Court.

Throughout his opening brief, and at Section III pages 41-46 of Appellant’s Brief (“AB”), Appellant argues that the trial Court abused its discretion in denying his motion to vacate and abused its discretion by overruling his evidentiary objections, asserted to parts of the declaration testimony of Mr Schroeder and documentary evidence.

Appellant’s arguments are also incorrect because Hoehn’s statements to Mr Schroeder’s office are party admissions under Evidence Code § 1220, and Mr Schroeder’s testimony and records were admissible as business

records of his law office under Evidence Code §1271. The objections asserted to the trial Court were incorrect.

However, all of the extrinsic evidence submitted by both parties, regarding Hoehn's motion to vacate, and the trial Court's ruling denying the motion and overruling the evidentiary objections as to the Mr Schroeder's declaration, were of no consequence and not relevant to the proceeding or the decision, as the Court expressly held the motion was untimely citing *Trackman vs Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App4th 175, 181 in its Order applying well settled legal authority.

The trial Court correctly held that all of the relief requested in the motion was time barred under applicable case law. *Trackman v. Kenney* (2010) 187 Cal.App.4th 175, 180; accord, *Bae v. T.D. Service Co. of Arizona* (2016) 245 Cal.App.4th 89, 97, *OC Interior Services*, at p. 1328; *Ramos*, at p. 1440; *Plaza Hollister Ltd. Partnership v. County of San Benito* (1999) 72 Cal.App.4th 1, 19.

As such, there would have been no reason to consider any of the extrinsic evidence submitted regarding the motion, to determine if the default Judgment was void as the motion was untimely. There is also no record indicating that the trial Court considered the extrinsic evidence in ruling on the motion and no evidence of any abuse of discretion by the trial Court by not doing so. Appellant's arguments on statutory construction, seeking to overturn well settled precedent, which the Supreme Court has recently declined to review, is misplaced and were

not presented to the trial Court.

Instead, Hoehn seeks to alter well settled case law for the first time on appeal, and to improperly use extrinsic evidence, to argue his own version of the factual background, which is not accurate based on the totality of the circumstances before the trial Court:

(1) a lack of personal jurisdiction due alleged defective service of the Summons and Complaint under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) based on extrinsic evidence offered concerning the validity of the proof of service of the summons and complaint [AAX 34-37],

(2) the incorrect contention that after entry of Defendant's default in the underlying case, Plaintiff was still required to serve its application for a default judgment on the defaulted party under Code of Civil Procedure § 587, *Heidary v. Yadollahi* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 857, 864, Extrinsic fraud under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d)

Since the default Judgment appears valid on its face and the time limits which govern Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) under the test set forth in *OC Interior Services LLC vs Nationstar Mortgage LLC* (2017) 7 Cal.App5th 1318 [Review denied]; (2) the motion to set aside sought to challenge the default judgment through the use of extrinsic evidence AX 10-22 Motion, 23-25 Hoehn's Declaration, and 26-198 Ms Clancy's Declaration and documentary evidence - exhibits A to Q; (3) was untimely under the applicable and controlling case authorities.

The time to assert these claims as to the April 11, 2011 default Judgment expired after six months on October 11, 2011, and certainly no later than the two year maximum on April 11 2014, under the holding in OC Interior Services LLC vs Nationstar Mortgage LLC (2017) 7 Cal.App5th 1318 [Review Denied].

There four arguments and the evidentiary objections presented by Appellant in Section III pages 41-46 of Appellant's Brief ("AB"), were each time barred, incorrect, and do not provide any evidence of any abuse of the trial Court's discretion. See AAX 227-231. Only evidentiary issues and arguments presented to the trial Court, before Appellant submitted on the papers and tentative ruling, may properly be considered on appeal.

The Order denying the motion must be viewed in light of the fact that the relief requested in the motion was not warranted, and was time barred under the holding in OC Interior Services LLC vs Nationstar Mortgage LLC (2017) 7 Cal.App5th 1318 [Review Denied]. The proof of service documents APX 49-52 are valid on its face.

The trial Court applied the correct applicable legal standard to Hoehn's untimely and procedurally defective motion to vacate the default Judgment filed March 18, 2020 [some 8 years, 8 months, and 11 days after entry of Judgment], because the default Judgment entered on April 8, 2011 AAX 147-149 cannot be challenged through the use of extrinsic evidence, on any of the grounds which Appellant has

improperly attempted to argue: (1) a lack of personal jurisdiction due alleged defective service of the Summons and Complaint under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) based on extrinsic evidence offered concerning the validity of the proof of service of the summons and complaint [AAX 34-37], (2) the incorrect contention that after entry of Defendant's default in the underlying case, Plaintiff was still required to serve its application for a default judgment on the defaulted party under Code of Civil Procedure § 587, *Heidary v. Yadollahi* (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 857, 864, Extrinsic fraud under Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d)

Since the proof of service and the default Judgment appear valid on their face and the time limits which govern Code of Civil Procedure § 473 (d) motions to vacate under the test set forth in *OC Interior Services LLC vs Nationstar Mortgage LLC* (2017) 7 Cal.App5th 1318; (2) the motion to vacate sought to challenge the default judgment through the use of extrinsic evidence AX 10-22 Motion, 23-25 Hoehn's self serving Declaration, and 26-198 Ms Clancy's Declaration and documentary evidence - exhibits A to Q; were of no consequence and irrelevant under the applicable and controlling case authorities.

**THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE ASSERTIONS
THAT THE DEFAULT JUDGMENT EXCEEDED THE AMOUNT
PLED IN THE COMPLAINT & DENIED THE § 587
CHALLENGES**

Appellant is simply not correct as to his argument that notice of the application for a default judgment had to be served on him under Code

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